

## Prepared in cooperation with the Honolulu Board of Water Supply

# Measuring Surface-Water Loss in Honouliuli Stream near the 'Ewa Shaft, O'ahu, Hawai'i



Scientific Investigations Report 2017–5042

U.S. Department of the Interior U.S. Geological Survey

**Cover.** Photograph looking upstream at the U.S. Geological Survey's Honouliuli H-1 streamflow-gaging station (16212490), from the Honolulu Board of Water Supply's 'Ewa Shaft Well compound. Photograph by Sarah N. Rosa, USGS.

## Measuring Surface-Water Loss in Honouliuli Stream near the 'Ewa Shaft, O'ahu, Hawai'i

By Sarah N. Rosa

Prepared in cooperation with the Honolulu Board of Water Supply

Scientific Investigations Report 2017–5042

U.S. Department of the Interior U.S. Geological Survey

#### **U.S. Department of the Interior**

RYAN K. ZINKE, Secretary

#### **U.S. Geological Survey**

William H. Werkheiser, Acting Director

U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, Virginia: 2017

For more information on the USGS—the Federal source for science about the Earth, its natural and living resources, natural hazards, and the environment—visit http://www.usgs.gov or call 1–888–ASK–USGS.

For an overview of USGS information products, including maps, imagery, and publications, visit http://store.usgs.gov.

Any use of trade, firm, or product names is for descriptive purposes only and does not imply endorsement by the U.S. Government.

Although this information product, for the most part, is in the public domain, it also may contain copyrighted materials as noted in the text. Permission to reproduce copyrighted items must be secured from the copyright owner.

Suggested citation:

Rosa, S.N., 2017, Measuring surface-water loss in Honouliuli Stream near the 'Ewa Shaft, O'ahu, Hawai'i: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2017–5042, 14 p., https://doi.org/10.3133/sir20175042.

ISSN 2328-0328 (online)

## Acknowledgments

The author is grateful to Nancy Matsumoto (Honolulu Board of Water Supply [HBWS]), Barry Usagawa (HBWS), Melia Lane-Kamahele (National Park Service Pacific Islands Office), Dan Clegg (Monsanto Company), Yarrow Flower (Monsanto Company), and Glenn Agunat (Monsanto Company) for their help with gaining access to the study area. Michele Harman (HBWS) also supplied critical water-level data for the duration of the study from a groundwater-monitoring well in the study area. This study could not have been completed without the assistance of Rick Fontaine, Alan Mair, Chris Cummings, and Chiu Yeung. Finally, the author would like to thank Delwyn Oki for his support and guidance in project design and report preparation.

## State Well Numbers

Since 1971, Hawai'i's well-numbering system has contained seven digits. The first digit distinguishes the island, which is then followed by a dash separator. The next four digits represent the grid system, with the first two digits representing minutes of latitude and the second two digits representing minutes of longitude for that grid (using leading zeroes for minute values less than 10). To distinguish wells within a minute grid, two digits were added following the 4-digit minutegrid numbers with a dash separator, and are sometimes referred to as a sequence number.

In 2012, Hawai'i's well-numbering system was modified to accommodate more wells than the previous numbering system would allow. The sequence number was changed from two digits to three digits, allowing for a grid to have 100 or more wells. If the sequence number is less than 100, the new numbering system places a zero in front of the 2 digits. References to wells in this report will only use a two-digit sequence number when the sequence number is less than 100.

## Contents

Acknowledgments	iii
State Well Numbers	iii
Abstract	
Introduction	
Purpose and Scope	2
Setting	2
Climate	2
Hydrogeological Setting	4
Surface-Water Losses	4
Continuous Water-Level and Stream-Discharge Data	4
Seepage Run	8
Study Limitations and Additional Data Needs	13
Summary	13
References Cited	13

## Figures

1.	Location map of selected gaging stations, selected surface-water features from the National Hydrography Dataset, the Honouliuli Preserve, and the generalized geology underlying the study area
2.	Graphs showing <i>A</i> , daily rainfall at the Kunia Substation and the Pālehua Corral rain gages, and <i>B</i> , daily streamflow at Honouliuli streamflow-gaging station and daily mean groundwater level at 'Ewa Shaft and Kunia T41 deep monitor well
3.	Graphs showing groundwater level in 'Ewa Shaft and discharge at the Honouliuli streamflow-gaging station at 30-minute intervals for a discharge event at the end of November 2015 and at the end of May 20167
4.	Graphs showing groundwater level in 'Ewa Shaft and discharge at the Honouliuli streamflow-gaging station at 30-minute intervals during the February 8, 2016 seepage run, and the May 4, 2016 seepage run
5.	Map showing seepage-run measurement stations for the February 8 and May 4, 2016, seepage runs on the Honouliuli Stream and its tributary and the location of the 'Ewa Shaft
6.	Selected photographs of the Honouliuli Stream measurement sites and the concrete-lined channel near the 'Ewa Shaft on May 4, 2016

## Tables

1.	Altitude and latitude and longitude coordinates of the continuous-record stations and the seepage-run discharge-measurement stations in the
	study area Oʻahu, Hawaiʻi5
2.	Honouliuli Stream and tributary seepage investigation of February 8, 201611
3.	Honouliuli Stream and tributary seepage investigation of May 4, 201611

## **Conversion Factors**

U.S. customary units to International System of Units Multiply By To obtain Length 25.4 inch (in.) millimeter (mm) foot (ft) 0.3048 meter (m) mile (mi) 1.609 kilometer (km) Area 4,047 square meter (m<sup>2</sup>) acre square foot (ft<sup>2</sup>) 0.09290 square meter (m<sup>2</sup>) square mile (mi2) 2.590 square kilometer (km2) Volume gallon (gal) 231 cubic inch (in<sup>3</sup>) 3,785 million gallons (Mgal) cubic meter (m<sup>3</sup>) cubic foot (ft<sup>3</sup>) 1728 cubic inch (in<sup>3</sup>) Flow rate cubic foot per second (ft<sup>3</sup>/s) 0.64631\* million gallons per day (Mgal/d) cubic foot per second (ft<sup>3</sup>/s) 0.02832 cubic meter per second  $(m^3/s)$ million gallons per day (Mgal/d) 0.04381 cubic meter per second (m<sup>3</sup>/s) 25.4 millimeter per year (mm/yr) inch per year (in/yr) Pressure 6.895 pound per square inch (lb/in<sup>2</sup>) kilopascal (kPa) Hydraulic gradient foot per mile (ft/mi) 0.1894 meter per kilometer (m/km)

\*Number has been truncated in the table. The exact conversion number was used in the analysis.

Temperature in degrees Celsius (°C) may be converted to degrees Fahrenheit (°F) as follows:

Temperature in degrees Fahrenheit (°F) may be converted to degrees Celsius (°C) as follows:

Vertical coordinate information is referenced to local mean sea level.

Horizontal coordinate information is referenced to the North American Datum of 1983 (NAD 83).

Altitude, as used in this report, refers to distance above the vertical datum.

## Measuring Surface-Water Loss in Honouliuli Stream near the 'Ewa Shaft, O'ahu, Hawai'i

By Sarah N. Rosa

### Abstract

The Honolulu Board of Water Supply is currently concerned with the possibility of bacteria in the pumped water of the 'Ewa Shaft (State well 3-2202-21). Groundwater from the 'Ewa Shaft could potentially be used to meet future potable water needs in the 'Ewa area on the island of O'ahu. The source of the bacteria in the pumped water is unknown, although previous studies indicate that surface water may be lost to the subsurface near the site. The 'Ewa Shaft consists of a vertical shaft, started near the south bank of Honouliuli Stream at an altitude of about 161 feet, and two horizontal infiltration tunnels near sea level. The shaft extracts groundwater from near the top of the freshwater lens in the Waipahu-Waiawa aquifer system within the greater Pearl Harbor Aquifer Sector, a designated Water Management Area.

The surface-water losses were evaluated with continuous groundwater-level data from the 'Ewa Shaft and a nearby monitoring well, continuous stream-discharge data from U.S. Geological Survey streamflow-gaging station 16212490 (Honouliuli Stream at H-1 Freeway near Waipahu), and seepage-run measurements in Honouliuli Stream and its tributary. During storms, discharge at the Honouliuli Stream gaging station increases and groundwater levels at 'Ewa Shaft and a nearby monitoring well also increase. The concurrent increase in water levels at 'Ewa Shaft and the nearby monitoring well during storms indicates that regional groundwater-level changes related to increased recharge, reduced withdrawals (due to a decrease in demand during periods of rainfall), or both may be occurring; although these data do not preclude the possibility of local recharge from Honouliuli Stream. Discharge measurements from two seepage runs indicate that surface water in the immediate area adjacent to 'Ewa Shaft infiltrates into the streambed and may later reach the groundwater system developed by the 'Ewa Shaft. The estimated seepage loss rates in the vicinity of 'Ewa Shaft from the two seepage runs generally ranged from 0.27 to 1.78 million gallons per day per mile of stream reach; although higher seepage rates may occur during periods of higher discharge in Honouliuli Stream. A potential source of bacteria in 'Ewa Shaft maybe related to seepage from

Honouliuli Stream; however, other sources of bacteria were not studied and cannot be excluded.

## Introduction

The 'Ewa Shaft, State well 3-2202-21, was constructed in 1936 by the 'Ewa Plantation Company and later managed by the O'ahu Sugar Company to supply water for sugarcane irrigation until the O'ahu Sugar Company closed in 1995, prompting significant land-use changes in the Honouliuli study area (fig. 1). Throughout the last century, the Honouliuli area transitioned from being dominated by large-scale sugarcane cultivation and cattle grazing at higher altitudes above the cultivated areas, to the foundation of the conservation area, Honouliuli Preserve. Within the last decade, smaller diversified agricultural plots cultivated by independent farmers and seed companies, small-scale ranching operations, telecommunication sites, residential developments, and golf courses have replaced the earlier sugarcane operations (Oceanit and others, 2007). The majority of the land in the study area is classified as prime agricultural land, which is described as best suited for the production of food, feed, forage, and fiber crops due to the soil quality, growing season, and moisture supply needed to produce sustained high crop yields (State Department of Agriculture, 1977).

Owing to the land-use shift, irrigation needs have decreased and potable water demand has increased, and is projected to increase further. The Honolulu Board of Water Supply (HBWS) estimates that 27 million gallons per day (Mgal/d) of potable water will be needed for the 'Ewa area by 2035 if the 'Ewa Development Plan is implemented (Department of Planning and Permitting, 2013). To help meet future potable water demands the HBWS is considering using the 'Ewa Shaft. Renovations to the 'Ewa Shaft facility were completed in 2011 and they included lining the existing vertical shaft and an adjacent reach of Honouliuli Stream with concrete (AECOM, 2011). These modifications were intended to prevent excessive seepage losses from the stream in the vicinity of the shaft.

#### 2 Measuring Surface-Water Loss in Honouliuli Stream near the 'Ewa Shaft, O'ahu, Hawai'i

The 'Ewa Shaft consists of a vertical shaft, started near the south bank of Honouliuli Stream at an altitude of about 161 feet (ft), and two horizontal infiltration tunnels excavated near sea level in flat-lying massive Ko'olau Basalt (Stearns, 1940). The shaft extracts groundwater from near the top of the freshwater lens in the Waipahu-Waiawa aquifer system within the greater Pearl Harbor Aquifer Sector, a designated Water Management Area. Approximately 11 percent of the Waipahu-Waiawa aquifer is covered by irrigated agricultural land (Engott and others, 2015). Stearns (1940) indicated a potential for surface water to infiltrate and reach the groundwater at the 'Ewa Shaft site based on (1) a small amount of water encountered in a lava tube at approximately 49 ft above sea level, and (2) water put back into Honouliuli Stream that apparently returned to the infiltration tunnel. An inspection documented in the final environmental assessment prepared for the HBWS in 2002 also indicates that recharge near the 'Ewa Shaft may affect groundwater at the site (M&E Pacific Inc., 2002).

#### **Purpose and Scope**

The HBWS is currently concerned with the possibility of bacteria in the water pumped from the 'Ewa Shaft. Although potential sources of bacteria in the pumped water are not fully understood, existing accounts indicate that surface water may be lost to the subsurface near the site. Groundwater from the 'Ewa Shaft could potentially be used to meet future potable water needs in the 'Ewa area as defined in the 'Ewa Development Plan (Department of Planning and Permitting, 2013).

The objective of the report is to evaluate the location and quantity of surface-water loss in Honouliuli Stream near the 'Ewa Shaft to improve understanding of potential sources of bacteria in the pumped water. The scope of the work included (1) the collection of new water-level and seepage-run information, and (2) an analysis of the extent of the surface-water loss in the study area.

## Setting

The study area is located at the southeastern end of the Wai'anae Range in western O'ahu and extends into central O'ahu (fig. 1). The study area is bounded to the west by the inferred surface contact between the Wai'anae Volcanics and Ko'olau Basalt, and to the east by Waikele Stream, which generally reflects the location of a possible barrier to ground-water flow associated with valley-filling alluvium and weathered volcanic rocks. The study area includes the part of the Honouliuli watershed that contributes groundwater recharge to the source aquifer for the 'Ewa Shaft and the estimated capture zone to the north of 'Ewa Shaft. The Honouliuli Stream and its tributary flow through the southwestern end of the study area. The confluence of the Honouliuli tributary and Honouliuli Stream is about 400 ft upstream of the

U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) streamflow-gaging station 16212490 (Honouliuli Stream at H-1 Freeway near Waipahu) and the 'Ewa Shaft (State well 3-2202-21; USGS station number 212252158025001; fig. 1). USGS streamflow-gaging station 16212480 (Honouliuli Tributary near Waipahu) is located at the northern end of the Honouliuli tributary reach included in the study area. Overflow from the Waiāhole Ditch system is periodically released in the Honouliuli tributary just downstream from the USGS Honouliuli tributary streamflowgaging station (16212480; fig. 1). The Waiāhole Ditch system develops dike-impounded water on the windward (northeast) side of O'ahu and transports it to leeward (southwest) agricultural developments, supplying approximately 7.5 square miles of diversified agriculture with irrigation water.

#### Climate

The climate of O'ahu is characterized by persistent cool northeasterly trade winds and mild temperatures throughout the year. The steep volcanic island topography produces pronounced spatial gradients for many of the components of climate, including rainfall, solar radiation, humidity, and wind (Juvik and Juvik, 1998). In Hawai'i, two prominent features affect climate variability: the El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO) and the Pacific Decadal Oscillation (PDO) (Christensen and others, 2007; Giambelluca and others, 2008). Seasonal or inter-annual climatic variability is driven by ENSO with drier periods during El Niño and wetter periods during La Niña. Typically, the dry summer season is from May to September and the rainy winter season is from October to April. Decadal variations in temperature historically have been closely coupled to the PDO, but recently temperature and the PDO have become decoupled (Giambelluca and others, 2008). Statewide analyses of rainfall and streamflow indicate that climate in Hawai'i has been getting drier (Oki, 2004; Chu and Chen, 2005).

Prevailing northeasterly trade winds force warm moisture-laden air up the windward side of O'ahu, causing the air to cool and condense, resulting in cloud formation and an orographic rainfall pattern, with more rain typically falling at higher altitudes. The study area is located in the leeward rain shadow, a typically drier area, on the island of O'ahu. The average annual amount of rainfall varies spatially within the study area from about 38 inches (in.) in the northern part of the study area to 22 in. near the coast (Giambelluca and others, 2013). The area in the vicinity of 'Ewa Shaft receives about 24 in. of average annual rainfall. Leeward sides of the Hawaiian Islands, including the 'Ewa Shaft area, receive a high percentage of their annual rainfall from frontal storms approaching from the southwest, locally known as Kona storms. In the fall and winter months, Kona storms and some storms arriving from the north bring heavy localized rainfall to areas like Honouliuli and can produce large amounts of surface-water runoff.

#### Setting 3



**Figure 1.** Location map of selected gaging stations, selected surface-water features from the National Hydrography Dataset (U.S. Geological Survey, 2010), the Honouliuli Preserve (State of Hawai'i, 2002), and the generalized geology (modified from Sherrod and others [2007]) underlying the study area. Inset map shows the location of the Waipahu-Waiawa aquifer system within the Pearl Harbor Aquifer Sector (Department of Land and Natural Resources, 2010).

#### Hydrogeological Setting

In the southern part of the Schofield Plateau of central O'ahu, the older rocks of the Wai'anae Range are overlain by the younger and highly permeable Ko'olau Basalt. High-permeability volcanic-rock aquifers with freshwater lenses store the majority of O'ahu's groundwater resources (Izuka and others, 2016). Within O'ahu's freshwater lenses, groundwater generally flows from inland to coastal areas. O'ahu's extensive coastal-plain deposits, which partly overlie the lava flows of the shield volcanoes, serve as a semiconfining caprock that resists natural groundwater discharge from the high-permeability volcanic aquifers and allows large volumes of groundwater to accumulate (Izuka and others, 2016). Low-permeability valley-fill barriers, created by alluvium and weathered rock, also create groundwater-flow barriers, forming subdivisions in the freshwater-lens system (Oki, 2005).

The surficial geology of the study area mostly consists of Ko'olau Basalt, alluvium, and older alluvium with a small area to the west of the Honouliuli tributary containing Kolekole Volcanics (fig. 1). The 'Ewa Shaft penetrates approximately 150 ft into the ground and at sea level the shaft opens up into two horizontal infiltration tunnels with the longer of the two tunnels (1,086 ft) extending under the Honouliuli Stream (Stearns, 1940). In sections within the tunnel, the rock is platy and yields water poorly, but in the last 500 ft the permeability of the rock increases, resulting in greater water yields (Stearns, 1940).

#### Surface-Water Losses

The location and quantity of surface-water loss in the Honouliuli Stream near the 'Ewa Shaft was evaluated with continuous water-level data from the 'Ewa Shaft (State well 3-2202-21; USGS station number 212252158025001), continuous stream-discharge data from USGS streamflow-gaging station 16212490 (Honouliuli Stream at H-1 Freeway near Waipahu), and seepage-run measurements from Honouliuli Stream and tributary (fig. 1). The water-level data, continuous stream-discharge data, and seepage-run measurements are available online in the USGS National Water Information System (U.S. Geological Survey, 2017).

Groundwater levels were recorded in the 'Ewa Shaft from February 26, 2015, to June 1, 2016, (study period) to evaluate the relation between surface-water discharge measured at the continuous USGS gaging station (16212490) and the water level in the 'Ewa Shaft. Groundwater was not extracted from the 'Ewa Shaft during the study period. To better understand the surface-water loss near the 'Ewa Shaft, two seepage runs, consisting of a series of discharge measurements along selected reaches of Honouliuli Stream and its tributary, were made under different flow conditions. The seepage-run data were used to quantify streamflow loss rates—an indicator of groundwater recharge—associated with the Honouliuli Stream and its tributary. The altitude and the latitude and longitude coordinates of the continuous-record stations and seepage-run discharge-measurement stations in the study area are listed in table 1.

#### Continuous Water-Level and Stream-Discharge Data

Available discharge data from USGS streamflow-gaging stations 16212490 and 16212480 indicate that both Honouliuli Stream and its tributary flowed intermittently during the study period. The maximum daily mean discharge at station 16212490 during the study period was 26.3 Mgal/d, the minimum and median daily mean discharges were 0 Mgal/d, and flow was observed at the station 37 percent of the time. The continuous stream-discharge data from USGS streamflowgaging station 16212480 located on the Honouliuli tributary at an altitude of 629 ft just upstream of the Waiāhole Ditch water release point was not used directly in this analysis, but the data did provide an indication of when discharge measured at the downstream gaging station (16212490) contained runoff from rainfall as well as flow from the ditch release. The maximum daily mean discharge at station 16212480 during the study period was 2.7 Mgal/d, the minimum and median daily mean discharges were 0 Mgal/d, and flow was observed at the station 3 percent of the time. Daily rainfall at two rain-gage stations, the Kunia Substation 740, at an altitude of 273 ft (National Weather Service Cooperative station 515040, fig. 1) and Palehua Corral 731.1, at an altitude of 1,140 ft (station 517654, fig. 1), were used to identify potential periods of runoff and regional groundwater recharge (fig. 2A). Groundwater-level data from the Kunia T41 deep monitor well (State well 3-2201-10; At the time of publication, data had not been published by the Honolulu Board of Water Supply) to the east of the 'Ewa Shaft (fig. 1) were used to determine if groundwater levels in the shaft were changing due to Honouliuli streamflow or more widespread processes that would also affect groundwater levels recorded in Kunia T41.

Daily groundwater levels at the Kunia T41 deep monitor well, the daily rainfall records, and discharge at Honouliuli Stream gaging station (16212490) indicate that increases in groundwater levels at 'Ewa Shaft and Kunia T41 appear to be related to rainfall (fig. 2). The concurrent increase in water levels at 'Ewa Shaft and the nearby monitoring well during storms indicates that regional water-level changes related to increased recharge, reduced withdrawals (due to a decrease in demand during periods of rainfall), or both may **Table 1.** Altitude and latitude and longitude coordinates of the continuous-record stations and the seepage-run discharge-measurement stations in the study area, O'ahu, Hawai'i.

[abv, above; blw, below; conf, confluence; ID, identifier; nr, near; Str, Stream; Trib, tributary; US, upstream; USGS, U.S. Geological Survey; –, not applicable or sensitive information; Database limitations preclude the use of Hawaiian diacritical marks in USGS station names]

Site ID <sup>a</sup>	USGS station number	USGS station name <sup>b</sup> Altitude <sup>°</sup> , in feet		Latitude <sup>d</sup>	Longituded
		Continuous-record stations			
_	16212480	Honouliuli Stream Tributary near Waipahu	629	21°24'06.6"	158°04'00.9"
5	16212490	Honouliuli Str at H-1 Freeway nr Waipahu	145	21°22'41.3"	158°02'41.2"
_	212252158025001	3-2202-21 Ewa Shaft (S3)	161	_	_
-	212250158015801	3-2201-10 Kunia T41 Deep Monitor Well	84	-	-
		Seepage-run discharge-measurement sta	ations		
1	212238158030201	Honouliuli Tributary US of culvert	210	21°22'37.8"	158°03'01.9"
2	212239158025301	Honouliuli Trib nr drain outlet abv conf	190	21°22'39.2"	158°02'53.2"
3	212240158024801	Honouliuli Tributary abv confluence	162	21°22'40.2"	158°02'47.8"
4	212241158024701	Honouliuli Stream abv confluence	161	21°22'41.2"	158°02'47.2"
5	16212490	Honouliuli Str at H-1 Freeway nr Waipahu	145	21°22'41.3"	158°02'41.2"
6	212240158023801	Honouliuli Str blw channel nr H1	133	21°22'39.8"	158°02'37.6"

<sup>a</sup>Refer to figure 5 for locations of the sites.

<sup>b</sup>Station names match the names used in the National Water Information System Web database.

°Altitude values interpolated from U.S. Geological Survey 1:24,000-scale digital hypsography data.

<sup>d</sup>Latitude and longitude coordinates in North American Datum of 1983.

be occurring; although these data do not preclude the possibility of local recharge from Honouliuli Stream. Two of the larger discharge events at the end of November 2015 and May 2016 are most likely some combination of natural streamflow and water being released from the Waiāhole Ditch system into the Honouliuli tributary. A storm also occurred at the end of August 2015, but due to a gap in the groundwater-level data collected at 'Ewa Shaft, data from the August storm were not included in the analysis. Groundwater levels in 'Ewa Shaft and discharge at the Honouliuli streamflow-gaging station measured at 30-minute intervals at the end of November 2015 and May 2016 are plotted in figure 3. The measured groundwater levels from 'Ewa Shaft during these events steadily increase and appear to indicate a relation between discharge and increases in water levels in the 'Ewa Shaft.

Groundwater levels in 'Ewa Shaft and surface-water discharge at the Honouliuli H-1 gage during the February 8 and May 4, 2016, seepage runs (described in a later section of the report) are plotted in figure 4. The measured groundwater levels from 'Ewa Shaft during the seepage runs do not appear to unequivocally indicate a response to the discharge in Honouliuli Stream. This may be related to the small magnitude and short duration of the discharge in Honouliuli Stream.



'Ewa Shaft (U.S. Geological Survey, 2017) and Kunia T41 deep monitor well (at the time of publication, the data had not been published by the Honolulu Board of Water Supply).



Groundwater level, in feet relative to mean sea level





18.4

June 1

May 30

May 28

May 26 0

2

18.6

7



Figure 4. Groundwater level in 'Ewa Shaft and discharge at the Honouliuli streamflow-gaging station (U.S. Geological Survey, 2017) at 30-minute intervals during the (A) February 8, 2016 seepage run, and (B) the May 4, 2016 seepage run.

May 5

May 4

#### Seepage Run

0

May 3

Seepage runs typically are conducted to determine the magnitude of streamflow gains and losses in selected stream reaches. A seepage run consists of making multiple same-day discharge measurements at selected sites along a stream. The discharge measurements should be made when streamflow is generally stable and direct runoff is considered negligible. Stability of flow conditions during a seepage run can be evaluated by recording the stage during the time when each discharge measurement is being made, and at the start and end of the seepage run. Measurements should be made at a common location with a stable reference point from which the stage can be accurately measured. Flow conditions during both of the seepage runs were documented by recording the stage during each discharge measurement, and by recording the stage relative to a pin installed at the continuous streamflowgaging station (16212490) located immediately upstream from the concrete-lined reach of the Honouliuli Stream at the start

and near the end of the seepage runs. Station 16212490 also provided a continuous record of stream stage for the duration of the seepage run.

19

18.9 May 6

Two seepage runs were conducted in this study, one in the wet season (February 8, 2016) with slightly higher flows and one in the dry season (May 4, 2016) with lower flows, to characterize the magnitude of the gains and losses along the Honouliuli Stream and its tributary in the 'Ewa Shaft area. The seepage-run stations established for this study are listed in table 1. An abbreviated site identifier (site ID) was assigned to the stations for ease of reference in the report. Discharge measurements were also made at one of the continuous-record stations during the seepage runs. Among the six sites where discharges were measured during the seepage runs, three were in the Honouliuli tributary, one was in Honouliuli Stream upstream of the confluence with the Honouliuli tributary, and two were in Honouliuli Stream downstream of the confluence (fig. 5). The station at the highest altitude (210 ft, site 1) was about 1.9 miles (mi) downstream of the Waiāhole Ditch water

release into the Honouliuli tributary and the station at the lowest altitude (133 ft, site 6) was about 50 ft downstream from the concrete-lined reach of Honouliuli Stream next to the 'Ewa Shaft pumping facility.

In the study area, the Honouliuli Stream and its tributary and are ephemeral, flowing naturally only during storms, which is not conducive to seepage runs as a result of the flashy and unstable nature of streamflow during these periods. Streamflow at station 16212490 is augmented periodically by water releases from the Waiāhole Ditch. Therefore, to complete the seepage runs under stable-flow conditions, all discharge measurements for the seepage runs were made during periods of releases of water from the Waiāhole Ditch into the Honouliuli tributary downstream of station 16212480 (fig. 1). The duration of the water releases from the Waiāhole Ditch system varied. The release for the February 8, 2016 seepage run began around mid-day February 7, 2016, and ended just before midnight on February 8, 2016 (fig. 4). The February seepage run took about five hours to complete (discharge measurements began at 9:37 a.m. and finished at 2:28 p.m.). The release for the May 4, 2016, seepage run began around

February 16, 2015, Ortho Mosaic for Oahu

6:00 a.m. on May 4, 2016, and ended just before midnight the same day (fig. 4). The May seepage run took about two hours to complete (discharge measurements began at 11:51 a.m. and finished at 1:29 p.m.). Although the extent of wetting of the streambed sediments during the seepage runs was not characterized, water was flowing for at least a few hours in the measured reaches before starting the seepage run measurements. No other return flows or diversions along the Honouliuli Stream and its tributary were documented during the reconnaissance survey in the reaches selected for the seepage runs. For both seepage runs, the estimated seepage gains and losses in the measured reaches of the Honouliuli Stream and its tributary were calculated as the difference between the discharges measured at the upstream and downstream stations. During the seepage runs, streamflow gains and losses were estimated along a 0.53-mi reach of Honouliuli Stream and its tributary.

During the wet-season seepage run of February 8, 2016, discharge measurements were made at six sites located between stream-channel altitudes of about 133 and 210 ft above mean sea level (table 1; fig. 5). Because the stream stage changed during the seepage-run measurement period,

Ο



Figure 5. Map showing seepage-run measurement stations for the February 8 and May 4, 2016, seepage runs on the Honouliuli Stream and its tributary and the location of the 'Ewa Shaft. Inset in map shows where the seepage-run measurement stations are located within the part of the Honouliuli watershed included in the study area.

#### 10 Measuring Surface-Water Loss in Honouliuli Stream near the 'Ewa Shaft, O'ahu, Hawai'i

seepage-loss calculations were made using the difference between each measured discharge and the average discharge at the streamflow-gaging station (site 5) during each discharge measurement period to account for the temporal variability of discharge within the seepage-run reaches (table 2). The flow at the Honouliuli Stream H-1 gaging station 16212490 was decreasing slightly during the approximately 5-hour seepage run. Flow ranged from 1.91 to 1.16 Mgal/d and averaged about 1.58 Mgal/d (fig. 4). In addition the discharge at the gage was fairly erratic, with sudden rises and falls, due to a sensitive control at the gage (small changes in stage equate to large changes in discharge). Manual stage readings from one of the gaging station's established reference points ranged from 5.19 ft at 8:47 a.m. to 5.16 ft at 1:40 p.m. Readings from the reference point confirm that the stage in the Honouliuli Stream and tributary was decreasing slightly with a 0.03-ft drop in stage during the approximate 5-hour duration of the seepage run.

Between site 1 and site 5 (USGS gaging station 16212490 about 0.42 mi downstream from site 1), flow in Honouliuli Stream and its tributary decreased from 2.15 to 1.62 Mgal/d (table 2; fig. 5). Between sites 2 and 5 (about 0.22 mi downstream of site 2), flow in Honouliuli Stream and its tributary decreased from 2.02 to 1.71 Mgal/d (table 2). At site 4 there was no flow in Honouliuli Stream above its confluence with the Honouliuli tributary. All flow for the seepage run in the Honouliuli tributary resulted from the Waiāhole Ditch flow release. Between sites 3 and 5, flow decreased slightly from 1.69 to 1.53 Mgal/d in Honouliuli Stream downstream of the confluence (table 2). Between sites 5 and 6 (0.11 mi downstream of site 5), flow in Honouliuli Stream decreased from 1.62 to 1.47 Mgal/d during the first measurement (table 2). During the second check measurement at site 6, which was made during more stable flow conditions, flow in Honouliuli Stream decreased from 1.53 Mgal/d at site 5 to 1.33 Mgal/d (table 2). The seepage rate in million gallons per day per mile (Mgal/d/mi) for the 4 reaches analyzed (reaches between sites 1 and 5; sites 2 and 5; sites 3 and 5; and sites 5 and 6) ranged from 1.26 Mgal/d/mi to 1.78 Mgal/d/mi of flow lost. The largest loss occurred in the reach between sites 5 and 6, which includes the concrete lined reach of the Honouliuli Stream channel (table 2). The more stable estimate of loss between sites 5 and 6 during the check measurement resulted in a seepage rate of 1.78 Mgal/d/mi.

Results from the wet-season seepage run indicate that the lower reach between sites 5 and 6, from about 40 ft upstream of the USGS gaging station to about 50 ft downstream of the concrete channel, likely loses water to the subsurface. Photographs of the Honouliuli streamflow-gaging station pool located just above the concrete-lined channel, a view of the concrete-lined channel looking downstream, and the measurement section at site 6 on May 4, 2016, are included in figure 6. These results focused the dry-season seepage run on the pair of sites (sites 5 and 6 on fig. 5) defining the lower reach, and shifted the seepage-run measurement approach. Multiple simultaneous measurements were made by two hydrographers (one stationed at site 5 and the other at site 6) to best account for possible variability of streamflow.

During the dry-season seepage run of May 4, 2016, discharge measurements were made at sites 5 and 6 (table 3; fig. 5), both of which were located on Honouliuli Stream downstream from the tributary. The two sites were located between streamchannel altitudes of about 133 and 145 ft above mean sea level. Three successive measurements were made at each site. During the seepage run, flow at the Honouliuli Stream H-1 gaging station 16212490 (site 5) was declining slightly and averaged about 0.49 Mgal/d (fig 4B). Manual stage readings from one of the gaging station's established reference points ranged from 5.11 ft at 11:45 a.m. to 5.08 ft at 1:30 p.m., confirming that the stage in the Honouliuli Stream was decreasing slightly with a 0.03-ft drop in stage for the approximate 2-hour duration of the seepage run. Another independent temporary reference mark was monitored at site 6, showing a stable stage during the first paired measurements and a slightly declining stage for the last two paired measurements.

Between site 5 (USGS gaging station 16212490) and site 6 (about 0.11 mi downstream from site 5), flow in Honouliuli Stream decreased from 0.57 to 0.54 Mgal/d during the first set of measurements (table 3). The stage in Honouliuli Stream during the first set of paired measurements was stable. During the second set of measurements, flow between sites 5 and 6 in Honouliuli Stream decreased from 0.52 to 0.51 Mgal/d (table 3), respectively, but the stage at both the gage and the lower temporary reference mark showed a 0.01 ft decrease, adding uncertainty to both measurements. During the third set of measurements, flow between sites 5 and 6 in Honouliuli Stream decreased from 0.47 to 0.46 Mgal/d (table 3), respectively, but the stage at both reference marks again dropped by 0.01 ft adding uncertainty to the discharge measurements. Even with the added uncertainty as a result of the slight decrease in stream stage, each pair of measurements taken at sites 5 and 6 shows that flow is being lost to the subsurface in the 0.11 mi reach. The seepage rate for the reach analyzed, which includes the concrete-lined reach of the Honouliuli Stream channel, ranged from 0.09 to 0.27 Mgal/d/mi. The largest loss (0.27 Mgal/d/mi) of surface water to the subsurface occurred at the beginning of the seepage run when the stage of the stream was the highest and most stable (table 3).

#### Table 2. Honouliuli Stream and tributary seepage investigation of February 8, 2016.

[ID, identifier; Mgal/d, million gallons per day; mi, miles; --, not applicable; A series of discharge measurements were made on February 8, 2016, on Honouliuli Stream and tributary, O'ahu, Hawai'i, to determine streamflow gains and losses. The discharge measurements were made during a water release from the Waiāhole Ditch to the tributary. Due to variability in stage during the seepage run, seepage loss calculations were made using the difference between each measured discharge and the average discharge at the streamflow-gaging station (site 5) during the period of each measurement to attempt to account for the temporal variability of discharge within the seepage-run reaches]

Site ID <sup>a</sup>	Measurement time	Discharge, in Mgal/d	Distance to site 5, in mi	Average discharge at site 5 during indicated measurement time°, in Mgal/d	Seepage loss, in Mgal/d	Seepage rate, in Mgal/d/mi
1	09:37-10:00	2.15	0.42	1.62	0.53 (2.15–1.62)	1.26
2	10:26-10:51	2.02	0.22	1.71	0.31 (2.02–1.71)	1.40
3	11:17-11:44	1.69	0.1	1.53	0.16 (1.69–1.53)	1.58
4	11:52-11:54	0	_	_	_	_
5	12:21-12:52	1.94	0	1.71	_	_
6	13:15-13:40	1.47	0.11	1.62	0.15 (1.62–1.47)	1.38
6 <sup>b</sup>	13:51-14:28	1.33	0.11	1.53	0.20 (1.53–1.33)	1.78

<sup>a</sup>Refer to figure 5 for locations of the sites.

<sup>b</sup>Check measurement made under more stable-flow conditions.

<sup>c</sup>Average values were computed using all data values recorded within and inclusive of the indicated starting and ending measurement times.

#### Table 3. Honouliuli Stream and tributary seepage investigation of May 4, 2016.

[ID, identifier; Mgal/d, million gallons per day; mi, miles; --, not applicable; A series of paired discharge measurements were made on May 4, 2016, on Honouliuli Stream and tributary, O'ahu, Hawai'i, to determine seepage gains and losses in the 0.11-mi stream reach between the sites. The discharge measurements were made during a fairly stable water release from the Waiāhole Ditch to the tributary]

Site ID <sup>a</sup>	Measurement time	Discharge, in Mgal/d	Seepage loss, in Mgal/d	Seepage rate, in Mgal/d/mi
5	11:51-12:09	0.57	_	_
6	11:45-12:15	0.54	0.03 (0.57–0.54)	0.27
5	12:21-12:40	0.52	_	_
6	12:17-12:54	0.51	0.01 (0.52–0.51)	0.09
5	13:00-13:18	0.47	_	_
6	13:00-13:29	0.46	0.01 (0.47–0.46)	0.09

<sup>a</sup>Refer to figure 5 for locations of the sites.

12 Measuring Surface-Water Loss in Honouliuli Stream near the 'Ewa Shaft, O'ahu, Hawai'i



**Figure 6.** Selected photographs of the Honouliuli Stream measurement sites and the concrete-lined channel near the 'Ewa Shaft on May 4, 2016. *A*, Looking upstream at the streamflow-gaging station (16212490) pool for site 5. *B*, Looking downstream in concrete-lined reach of the Honouliuli Stream. *C*, Looking upstream at the seepage-run measurement cross section for site 6, located downstream of the concrete-lined reach of the Honouliuli Stream channel.

## Study Limitations and Additional Data Needs

Seepage rates were calculated as the difference between the upstream and downstream discharges over the length of stream reach. Considering the potential error in the seepagerun measurements, the estimated seepage rates may reflect some uncertainty relative to the true gains and losses within a reach. Contributing factors to discharge-measurement errors include the condition of the measuring instrument and instrument error, characteristics of the measurement cross section, spacing and number of observation verticals in a cross section, changing stage during the measurement, flow depth and velocity, and environment (Rantz and others, 1982). Additional discharge measurements at the established seepage-run sites during periods of higher stable discharge in Honouliuli Stream would increase the level of confidence in the estimated seepage rates and help to bracket the possible range of losses in the area.

A comparison of the water-quality characteristics of 'Ewa Shaft's water, the shallow water-table aquifer, and the Honouliuli Stream could also help discriminate the source of bacteria by (1) using water temperature, stable isotopes, or dye tracer studies, or (2) fingerprinting the bacteria populations in the water using a polymerase chain reaction on the microbial deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA).

## Summary

Records of groundwater levels from 'Ewa Shaft and surface-water discharge at the Honouliuli Stream H-1 streamflow-gaging station appear to indicate a correlation between discharge and increases in water levels in the 'Ewa Shaft. However, concurrent increases in groundwater levels at 'Ewa Shaft and Kunia T41 deep monitor well that occurred during periods of heavy rainfall indicate that regional waterlevel changes related to increased regional recharge, reduced withdrawals, or both may be occurring. Local recharge from the Honouliuli Stream channel also may occur during periods when Honouliuli Stream is flowing, although this phenomenon may not be identifiable from the groundwater-level records alone. The measured groundwater levels from 'Ewa Shaft during the seepage runs do not appear to unequivocally indicate a response to the discharge in Honouliuli Stream. This may be related to the small magnitude and short duration of the measured discharges in Honouliuli Stream.

Two seepage runs were made during periods when Honouliuli Stream was flowing. The streamflow was mainly related to the release of water from the Waiāhole Ditch system into the stream channel. Both seepage runs indicated that surface water in the 0.11-mi reach in the immediate area adjacent to 'Ewa Shaft was being lost to the subsurface. The estimated seepage-loss rates in the vicinity of 'Ewa Shaft from the two seepage runs generally ranged from 0.27 to 1.78 Mgal/d/mi of stream reach, although higher seepage rates may occur during periods of higher discharge in Honouliuli Stream.

Seepage from the Honouliuli Stream channel in the vicinity of 'Ewa Shaft was documented as part of this study and represents a potential source of bacteria to the 'Ewa Shaft. However, the scope of this study was limited to evaluating location and quantity of surface-water loss in Honouliuli Stream near the 'Ewa Shaft and, therefore, other potential sources of bacteria were not identified, but likely exist.

## **References Cited**

- AECOM, 2011, Preliminary engineering report for Ewa Shaft renovation, Ewa, Oahu, Hawaii, TMK: (1)9-2-001:013, 217 p.
- Christensen, J.H., Hewitson, B., Busuioc, A., Chen, A., Gao, X., Held, I., Jones, R., Kolli, R.K., Kwon, W.-T., Laprise, R., Magaña Rueda, V., Mearns, L., Menéndez, C.G., Räisänen, J., Rinke, A., Sarr, A., and Whetton, P., 2007, Regional climate projections, *in* Solomon, S., Qin, D., Manning, M., Chen, Z., Marquis, M., Averyt, K.B., Tignor, M., and Miller, H.L., eds., Climate change 2007—The physical science basis: Contribution of Working Group I to the fourth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, U.K., 996 p.
- Chu, P.S., and Chen, H., 2005, Interannual and interdecadal rainfall variations in the Hawaiian Islands: Journal of Climate. v. 18, p. 4796–4813.
- Department of Land and Natural Resources, 2010, Aquifers dataset: State of Hawai'i Office of Planning Web page, accessed January 8, 2013, at http://planning.hawaii.gov/gis/ download-gis-data/.
- Department of Planning and Permitting, 2013, 'Ewa Development Plan, July 2013: City and County of Honolulu, 237 p.
- Engott, J.A., Johnson, A.G., Bassiouni, Maoya, and Izuka, S.K., 2015, Spatially distributed groundwater recharge for 2010 land cover estimated using a water-budget model for the Island of O'ahu, Hawai'i: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2015–5010, 49 p. [Also available at http://dx.doi.org/10.3133/sir20155010.]
- Giambelluca, T.W., Chen, Q., Frazier, A.G., Price, J.P., Chen, Y.-L., Chu, P.-S., Eischeid, J.K., and Delparte, D.M., 2013. Online rainfall atlas of Hawai'i: Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society, v. 94, p. 313–316, doi: 10.1175/ BAMS-D-11-00228.1.

#### 14 Measuring Surface-Water Loss in Honouliuli Stream near the 'Ewa Shaft, O'ahu, Hawai'i

Giambelluca, T.W., Diaz, H.F., and Luke, M.S.A., 2008, Secular temperature changes in Hawai'i: Geophysical Research Letters, v. 35, L12702, doi:10.1029/2008GL034377.

Izuka, S.K., Engott, J.A., Bassiouni, Maoya, Johnson, A.G., Miller, L.D., Rotzoll, Kolja, and Mair, Alan, 2016, Volcanic aquifers of Hawai'i—Hydrogeology, water budgets, and conceptual models: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2015–5164, 158 p. [Also available at http://dx.doi.org/10.3133/sir20155164.]

Juvik, J.O., and Juvik, S.P., 1998, Atlas of Hawai'i (3d ed.): Hilo, University of Hawai'i Press, 352 p.

M&E Pacific Inc., 2002, Final environmental assessment for the Ewa Shaft renovation, Ewa, Oahu, Hawaii: M&E Pacific Inc., 98 p.

National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, 2016, National weather service cooperative observer program: National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Web page, accessed July 2016, at http://www.nws.noaa.gov/om/ coop.

Oceanit, Townscape Inc., and Dashiell, E., 2007, Central O'ahu Watershed study: Final Report, Oceanit Townscape Inc., 271 p.

Oki, D.S., 2004, Trends in streamflow characteristics at longterm gaging stations, Hawai'i: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2004–5080, 120 p.

Oki, D.S., 2005, Numerical simulation of the effects of lowpermeability valley-fill barriers and the redistribution of ground-water withdrawals in the Pearl Harbor Area, Oʻahu, Hawaiʻi: U.S. Geological Survey Scientific Investigations Report 2005–5253, 111 p. Rantz, S.E., and others, 1982, Measurement and computation of streamflow: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 2175, 2 vol., 631 p.

Sherrod, D.R., Sinton, J.M., Watkins, S.E., and Brunt, K.M., 2007, Geologic map of the State of Hawai'i: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2007–1089, 83 p., 8 plates, scales 1:100,000 and 1:250,000, with GIS database.

State Department of Agriculture, 1977, Agricultural lands of importance to the State of Hawai'i (ALISH) Classification System: State Department of Agriculture, 1:24,000 scale maps.

State of Hawai'i, 2002, Reserves dataset: Hawai'i Statewide GIS Program Web page, accessed December 20, 2016, at http://hawaiistatewidegisopendataportal.histategis.opendata. arcgis.com/.

Stearns, H.T., 1940, Supplement to the geology and groundwater resources of the island of Oahu, Hawaii: U.S. Geological Survey Bulletin 5, 164 p.

U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2015, Orthomosaic for O'ahu (20150216): Natural Resource Conservation Service, USDA Geospatial Data Gateway Web page, accessed June 5, 2015, at https://gdg.sc.egov.usda.gov/.

U.S. Geological Survey, 2010, The National map, National hydrography dataset: U.S. Geological Survey Web page, accessed August 30, 2012, at http://nhd.usgs.gov/data.html.

U.S. Geological Survey, 2017, USGS Water Data for Hawaii: U.S. Geological Survey National Water Information System Web page, accessed March 8, 2017, at http://dx.doi.org/10.5066/F7P55KJN.

Menlo Park Publishing Service Center, California Edited by Katherine Jacques Design and layout by James E. Banton

**≥USGS** 

ISSN 2328-0328 (online) https://doi.org/10.3133/sir20175042